# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 5/3/2021 11:54 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/3/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99730-6

# NO. 53924-1-II IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. PALLA SUM, Petitioner. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY The Honorable Frank E. Cuthbertson, Judge PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

### **

B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. <u>Suppression hearing</u> 1
	2. <u>Trial court's ruling refusing to suppress evidence</u>
	3. <u>Verdicts, sentence, and appeal</u> 5
D.	ARGUMENT 6
	This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) and hold that Sum was illegally seized
	Mr. Sum was seized when the police officer demanded information from him, having made it clear Mr. Sum was the subject of criminal investigation.  7
	2. The officer lacked reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. Sum 15
E.	CONCLUSION 19

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page		
WASHINGTON CASES		
<u>State v. Armenta</u> 134 Wn.2d 1, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997)		
<u>State v. Boisselle</u> 194 Wn.2d 1, 448 P.3d 19 (2019)		
<u>State v. Carriero</u> 8 Wn. App. 2d 641, 439 P.3d 679 (2019)		
<u>State v. Chacon Arreola</u> 176 Wn.2d 284, 290 P.3d 983 (2012)		
<u>State v. Doughty</u> 170 Wn.2d 57, 239 P.3d 573 (2010)		
<u>State v. Fuentes</u> 183 Wn.2d 149, 352 P.3d 152 (2015)		
<u>State v. Gunwall</u> 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)		
<u>State v. Harrington</u> 167 Wn.2d 656, 222 P.3d 92 (2009)		
<u>State v. Harris</u> 9 Wn. App. 2d 625, 444 P.3d 1252 (2019)		
<u>State v. Johnson</u> 8 Wn. App. 2d 728, 440 P.3d 1032 (2019)		
<u>State v. Knox</u> 86 Wn. App. 831, 939 P.2d 710 (1997)		
<u>State v. Larson</u> 93 Wn.2d 638, 611 P.2d 771 (1980)		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Martinez</u> 135 Wn. App. 174, 143 P.3d 855 (2006)
<u>State v. Mayfield</u> 192 Wn.2d 871, 434 P.3d 58 (2019)
<u>State v. Mote</u> 129 Wn. App. 276, 120 P.3d 596 (2005)
<u>State v. O'Neill</u> 148 Wn.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003)
<u>State v. Thorn</u> 129 Wn.2d 347, 917 P.2d 108 (1996)
<u>State v. Weyand</u> 188 Wn.2d 804, 399 P.3d 530 (2017)
<u>State v. Young</u> 167 Wn. App. 922, 275 P.3d 1150 (2012)
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Terry v. Ohio</u> 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)
<u>United States v. Mendenhall</u> 446 U.S. 543, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980)

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

TABLE OF ACTIONTIES (CONT B)
Page
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
Kristin Henning,
The Reasonable Black Child: Race, Adolescence, and the Fourth
<u>Amendment</u> , 67 Am. U. L. REV. 1513 (2018)
Lindsey Webb,
Legal Consciousness As Race Consciousness: Expansion of the Fourth
Amendment Seizure Analysis Through Objective Knowledge of Police
Impunity, 48 SETON HALL L. REV. 403 (2018)
Mia Carpiniello
Striking a Sincere Balance: A Reasonable Black Person Standard for
"Location Plus Evasion" Terry Stops, 6 MICH. J. RACE & L. 355 (2001) 11
RAP 136
RAP 13.4
U.S. CONST. amend. IV
Const. art. I, § 7

#### A. <u>PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Palla Sum asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in <u>State v. Sum</u>, 53924-1-II, filed April 13, 2021, affirming the denial of Mr. Sum's suppression motion. The opinion is appended to this petition.

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Was Mr. Sum, a person of color, seized, when a police officer, who had just woken Sum as he slept in his car, demanded information from Sum and made it clear Sum was the subject of criminal investigation? In other words, would a reasonable person in Mr. Sum's position have felt free to leave?
  - 2. Did the officer lack reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. Sum?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

#### 1. Suppression hearing

After being charged with three crimes, and before trial, Sum moved to suppress evidence. Sum argued he was illegally seized by the police officer who approached his car and asked for identification under the guise of investigating vehicle theft, even after determining the car was not reported stolen. See CP 7-12 (motion to suppress); CP 13-22 (additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This petition refers to the verbatim reports chronologically as follows: 1RP - 6/20 and 7/23/19; 2RP - 8/6/19; 3RP - 8/7/19; 4RP - 8/8/19; 5RP - 8/16/19; and 6RP - 8/30/19. Volumes 2-6 are consecutively paginated.

authority submitted by defense); 2RP 44-45 (defense closing argument for suppression hearing).

At the suppression hearing, Pierce County deputy Mark Rickerson testified for the prosecution. 2RP 9. The morning of April 9, 2019, he drove north on East L Street past East 71st Street in Tacoma. He glanced east toward a parking area located outside a fenced parking lot. 2RP 12-13. About four or five months earlier, another deputy sheriff had discovered a stolen car in that parking area and made an arrest. 2RP 13, 17. Also around that time, Rickerson spoke with an individual who said he lived across the street. The individual complained generally about non-residents parking there. 2RP 13, 40. The conversation occurred in the parking lot of the nearby Safeway. 2RP 13.

The day in question, Rickerson noticed a Honda parked just east of the fenced lot's gate. 2RP 16-17. The driver appeared to be asleep in his seat. 2RP 17-18. Rickerson drove past the Honda, made a U-turn at the dead end on 71st Street, and drove west toward the car. 2RP 18. As Rickerson did so, he typed the Honda's Oregon license plate number into his vehicle's mobile data computer and determined the car had not been reported stolen. 2RP 19-20, 41. Instead, there was a record that the vehicle had been sold. 2RP 20-21. But, according to Rickerson, Oregon records of this type do not identify the purchaser or the date of sale. 2RP 20-21, 41.

Rickerson parked east of the Honda and did not block it. 2RP 19, 27. He got out and approached the car on foot. His first action was to check whether the last four digits of the car's visible Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) matched the VIN associated with the license plate. They matched. 2RP 21-22. But, as Rickerson examined the VIN, he noticed another person in the car, who also appeared to be asleep. 2RP 21-22.

Neither occupant woke to Rickerson's presence, so he knocked on the driver's window. 2RP 22-23. The driver, Sum, woke after a few seconds and rolled down the window. 2RP 23. Rickerson asked what Sum was doing in the area. 2RP 23. According to Rickerson, Sum said either that he was visiting a friend, or waiting for a friend, from across the street. 2RP 23. Rickerson thought Sum could be referring to the home of the person he had talked to. 2RP 23.

Rickerson asked Sum if the car was his. Sum said no. 2RP 24-25. Rickerson asked who owned the car. 2RP 25. Sum provided a first name but not a last name. Rickerson did not specifically recall the name Sum provided. 2RP 25.

Rickerson then asked for Sum's identification. 2RP 25. Sum asked why Rickerson was asking. 2RP 25. Rickerson responded to Sum that he was asking, "[b]ecause [you] couldn't tell me exactly who the vehicle belonged to and it was in an area where we've recovered stolen vehicles

before." 2RP 26. Sum then provided an incorrect name and birth date; the passenger provided what turned out to be his true name. 2RP 26-27.

Rickerson then asked Sum and the passenger if they had been arrested before. 2RP 27. Rickerson explained he wanted to verify their identities through booking photos. 2RP 27. Rickerson did not recall their responses. 2RP 27. Rickerson returned to his car to look up the names provided using a database that includes booking photos. 2RP 28. Rickerson wasn't able to confirm Sum's identity with the name given. 2RP 28.

Meanwhile, Rickerson heard the Honda's engine start. He thought little of it, assuming the driver only wanted to warm the car on a chilly day. 2RP 28-29. A few seconds later, however, the car backed up at an angle, drove over the corner (including grass and sidewalk), and headed south on East L Street at a high rate of speed. 2RP 29. Disregarding a stop sign, the Honda turned west onto East 72nd Street, sliding into an improper lane as it did so. 2RP 29-30. Rickerson and another deputy sheriff caught up with the car after it skidded onto some landscaping blocks at the intersection of East 72nd Street and South Yakima Avenue. 2RP 32.

#### 2. Trial court's ruling refusing to suppress evidence

The trial court made findings consistent with the facts set forth above, except it found (relevant to Sum's explanation for being in the area) that there was only one residence located across the street from the parking area. Finding of Fact 8. In fact, the photographic exhibits reveal several homes on the other side of the street. Pretrial Exs. 1, 2. From these findings, the court entered the following conclusions of law:

- 2. Deputy Rickerson's initial contact with [Sum], who was apparently unconscious in the driver's seat of a Honda Civic parked on East 71st Street, was not a seizure, but a reasonable check on health and safety because the public's interest in confirming [Sum's] safety at the time outweighed [his] interest in freedom from police interference.
- 3. The fact that [Sum] then told Rickerson that the vehicle in which he was sitting did not belong to him, that he could not fully identify the owner of that vehicle, and, to a lesser extent, the fact that the location in which [Sum] had parked was a high-crime area from which stolen vehicles had been recovered, were specific and articulable facts which would lead one to believe that there was a substantial possibility that criminal conduct had occurred, and hence, justified a [stop under Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)] of [Sum,] which rendered Rickerson's request for [Sum] and his passenger to identify themselves lawful and reasonable.
- 4. Because Rickerson did not retain [Sum's] physical identification to conduct his records check, [Sum] was not seized when Rickerson asked him to identify himself, and [Sum's] motion to suppress evidence obtained thereafter as the product of an unlawful seizure is therefore denied, and such evidence is admissible.

CP 88-89.

#### 3. Verdicts, sentence, and appeal

A jury found Sum guilty of making a false or misleading statement to a public servant. He was also convicted of attempt to elude a pursuing police vehicle and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, relating to a pistol eventually found under the driver's seat. CP 23-24, 51-53.

Sum timely appealed. CP 77. He argued that he was illegally seized, and that trial court erred in failing to suppress evidence supporting the charge of making a false or misleading statement to a public servant.

In an April 13, 2021 decision, the Court of Appeals said Sum was not seized, primarily because Rickerson's car did not block Sum and Rickerson merely *requested* identification. Thus, the interaction was merely a social contact. Opinion at 7-9. The Court of Appeals, having found that Sum was not seized, did not evaluate whether the seizure was supported by reasonable suspicion.

Mr. Sum now asks this Court to grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals. Mr. Sum was seized.

#### D. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) and hold that Sum was illegally seized.

This Court should grant review and provide much-needed clarification regarding whether an individual, and notably, a person of color, is seized when a police officer demands information from that individual, having made it clear the individual is then the subject of criminal investigation. See RAP 13(b)(3) and (4) (grant of review is appropriate

where petition implicates a significant question of law under state or federal constitutions, and if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court).

A reasonable person in Mr. Sum's position—a person of color who had been woken by an armed Pierce County deputy and told he was under investigation for a crime—would not have felt free to leave, regardless of whether he was physically blocked or restrained. Further, the reasonable person standard merits this Court's reexamination to reflect the realities of policing and individuals' experiences in interacting with police. As is apparent form the Court of Appeals' opinion, our courts continue to employ a reasonableness standard that does not account for changed perceptions of law enforcement and that fails to address issues of race and power.

1. Mr. Sum was seized when the police officer demanded information from him, having made it clear that Mr. Sum was the subject of criminal investigation.

Article I, section 7 provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in [their] private affairs, or [their] home invaded, without authority of law." This provision is different from the Fourth Amendment and provides greater protections. State v. Mayfield, 192 Wn.2d 871, 878, 434 P.3d 58 (2019) (citing State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)). Article I, section 7 "is grounded in a broad right to privacy" and protects from

governmental intrusion into private affairs without authority of law. <u>State v. Chacon Arreola</u>, 176 Wn.2d 284, 291, 290 P.3d 983 (2012).

Whether police "seized" a person is a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997); State v. Carriero, 8 Wn. App. 2d 641, 654, 439 P.3d 679 (2019). The ultimate determination of whether contact constitutes a seizure is reviewed de novo. State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 662, 222 P.3d 92 (2009) (quoting State v. Thorn, 129 Wn.2d 347, 351, 917 P.2d 108 (1996), overruled on other grounds by State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003)).

An accused person "bears the burden of proving a seizure occurred." State v. Johnson, 8 Wn. App. 2d 728, 738, 440 P.3d 1032 (2019) (citing Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 664). But, if a seizure did occur, warrantless seizures are per se unconstitutional, and a heavy burden falls to the State to demonstrate that a warrantless seizure falls into a narrow exception to that general rule. State v. Boisselle, 194 Wn.2d 1, 10, 448 P.3d 19 (2019). An investigatory seizure, commonly referred to as a Terry stop, is one such exception to the warrant requirement, under both State and federal jurisprudence. Terry, 392 U.S. 1. Under this exception, a police officer may, without a warrant, briefly detain an individual for questioning if they have reasonable and articulable suspicion the individual is or is about to be

engaged in criminal activity. <u>State v. Fuentes</u>, 183 Wn.2d 149, 158, 352 P.3d 152 (2015); <u>Carriero</u>, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 663.

The Court of Appeals' decision characterizes Deputy Rickerson's post-safety check interaction with Sum as a routine social contact. Opinion at 7. This is incorrect. The record shows Mr. Sum was seized. Rickerson demanded information from Sum. Rickerson's "request" is properly characterized as a demand because the deputy made it clear that the desired information related to an ongoing criminal investigation. Moreover, notification of criminal investigation is considered a significant factor in determining whether a person has been seized by police—or whether they may simply walk away without consequence.

Police contact constitutes a seizure where "due to an officer's use of physical force *or display of authority*, a reasonable person would not feel free to leave, terminate the encounter, refuse to answer the officer's question, decline a request, or otherwise go about his business." <u>Carriero</u>, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 655 (emphasis added) (reciting test from <u>United States v. Mendenhall</u>, 446 U.S. 543-54, 554, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980)). "[T]he officer seizes the citizen not only when the citizen feels compelled to remain still but also when the citizen deems himself obliged to respond to the officer's requests." Carriero, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 655.

Put another way, under Article I, Section 7, a seizure occurs when an individual's freedom of movement is restrained, and they would not believe they are (1) free to leave or (2) free to decline an officer's request and end the encounter. <u>Johnson</u>, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 737. This standard is objective, looking to "the officer's actual conduct and whether the conduct appears coercive." <u>Harrington</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 662. As such, "[t]he relevant question is whether a reasonable person in the individual's position would feel [they were] being detained." <u>Id.</u>

Washington courts have indicated that "police activities such as engaging a citizen in conversation, identifying themselves as officers, or simply requesting identification do not convert a casual encounter into a seizure." Carriero, 8 Wn. App. 2d. at 658 (citing State v. Knox, 86 Wn. App. 831, 838, 939 P.2d 710 (1997), overruled on other grounds by O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564). But, even so, a seizure occurs when an officer "demands information from the person." Carriero, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 655 (citing O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 581).

Here, objectively viewed, Deputy Rickerson demanded information from Mr. Sum. A reasonable person in Sum's position would not have felt free to decline Rickerson's request that Sum identify himself. Rickerson did not just casually, out of the blue, ask Sum to identify himself. Rickerson asked Sum for identification. 2RP 25. Sum asked why Rickerson was

asking. 2RP 25. Rickerson responded to Sum that he was asking, "[b]ecause [Sum] couldn't tell me exactly who the vehicle belonged to and it was in an area where we've recovered stolen vehicles before." 2RP 26.

A reasonable person approached by an armed sheriff's deputy who is investigating the person for criminal activity feels that "compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." See Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554. Moreover, to acknowledge how race affects perceptions towards, and contacts with, police, scholars have called for courts to consider how a person's race might have influenced their attitude toward a police encounter. See, e.g., Mia Carpiniello, Striking a Sincere Balance: A Reasonable Black Person Standard for "Location Plus Evasion" Terry Stops, 6 MICH. J. RACE & L. 355, 377-78 (2001) ("The mythical reasonable person standard ignores . . . feelings of fear and distrust toward police[.]"); Kristin Henning, The Reasonable Black Child: Race, Adolescence, and the Fourth Amendment, 67 Am. U. L. REV. 1513, 1520-21 (2018) ("The reasonable person is a fictitious character, likely an adult white male—if for no other reason than he has been penned over time by judges and lawmakers who are predominately white and male."); cf. Lindsey Webb, Legal Consciousness As Race Consciousness: Expansion of the Fourth Amendment Seizure Analysis Through Objective Knowledge of Police Impunity, 48 SETON HALL L. REV. 403, 443 (2018) ("Under the objective

reasonable person test, knowledge of the law governing police accountability constrains the freedom of all reasonable people to terminate a police encounter.").

To reiterate, sheriff's deputy Rickerson told Sum, a person of color whom he had just woken by appearing at Sum's car window, that the car was in an area known for stolen cars and that Sum's answer regarding ownership of the car was unsatisfactory. 2RP 25-27; CP 86-87 (Findings of Fact 10, 12). With this questioning, Rickerson informed Sum he was under investigation related to vehicle theft. Rickerson's suspicion was not confined to his own thoughts; it was objectively apparent.

Even putting aside issues of race and power, however, Washington courts recognize that notification of criminal investigation is a critical factor in determining whether an individual has been seized by police. See Armenta, 134 Wn.2d at 11 ("[A] police officer's . . . asking for identification does not, alone, raise the encounter to an investigative detention. We find this reasoning particularly appropriate to the circumstances here, where the police officer requested the identification *for some purpose other than investigating criminal activity*." (Emphasis added.)); Johnson, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 743 ("[I]inquiries into Johnson's name, whether Johnson had a driver's license, and whether Johnson would prove his identity by

presenting his identification document . . . further advanced the impression that a police investigation was ongoing and that Johnson was a suspect.").

Indeed, such notification "indicat[es] that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." Harrington, 167 Wn.2d at 662. Considering what Rickerson told Sum about his vehicle theft investigation, a reasonable person in Sum's position would not have felt free to start the car and drive away without first answering Deputy Rickerson's questions. See State v. Young, 167 Wn. App. 922, 931, 275 P.3d 1150 (2012) (detained would not have felt free to walk away from officers). This is true whether or not Sum was blocked in. Rickerson demanded information from Sum and his questioning notified Sum this demand was part of a criminal investigation. Regardless of how Rickerson parked his car, Mr. Sum was not free to go. Mr. Sum was seized.

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