FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/1/2021 2:42 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 99730-6

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PALLA SUM,

Petitioner.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 19-1-01329-1 Court of Appeals Cause No. 53924-1-II

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Britta Ann Halverson Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44108 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2912

# **

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

148 Wn.2d at 571-72. The officer pulled behind the car, activated his spotlight, and ran a computer check on the license plate. *Id*. at 572. He learned that the vehicle had been impounded within the previous two months. *Id*. The vehicle's windows were fogged over and the vehicle appeared to be occupied. *Id*.

The officer approached the driver's side of the parked vehicle, shined his flashlight on the driver's face, and asked him to roll down the window. *Id.* The driver, later identified as O'Neill, complied. *Id.* The officer then asked O'Neill what he

was doing there, and O'Neill responded that his car had broken down and would not start. *Id.* The officer asked O'Neill to try and start the vehicle. *Id.* O'Neill tried, but the vehicle would not start. *Id.* The officer then asked O'Neill for identification. *Id.* O'Neill responded he had no identification and his license had been revoked, and he gave the officer a name that turned out to be false. *Id.* The officer asked O'Neill to step out of the vehicle, and subsequent events led to O'Neill's arrest. *Id.* at 572-73.

This Court held that under article I, section 7, O'Neill was not seized until he was asked to step out of the vehicle. *Id.* at 574. Before that point, the officer neither used physical force nor displayed any show of authority. *Id.* at 577-81. An officer does not display authority just because he carries a gun, wears a uniform, and asks questions. *Id.* at 581. The Court observed,

It is important to bear in mind that the relevant question is whether a reasonable person in O'Neill's position would feel he or she was being detained. The reasonable person standard does not mean that when a uniformed law enforcement officer, with holstered weapon and official vehicle, approaches and asks questions, he has made such a show of authority as to rise to the level of a *Terry* stop. If that were true, then the vast majority of encounters between citizens and law enforcement officers would be seizures.

*Id.* at 581.

P.3d 596 (2005), a police officer observed two people sitting in a car parked in a residential neighborhood late at night with its rear and dome lights activated. The officer was driving a fully marked police vehicle and wearing a standard police uniform. *Id.* at 279. "Concerned about drug activity and frequent vehicle prowls in the area," the officer parked behind the other vehicle, approached the driver's side, and asked the occupants "what they were up to." *Id.* at 280. The officer also asked the occupants for identification, and they complied. *Id.* at 280-81.

On appeal, the court held that even assuming the officer used a spotlight when he approached the vehicle, his "actions in their entirety, viewed objectively, did not create such a show of authority that there would be a seizure." *Id.* at 292 (citing *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 578-81). The court noted that the officer

did not activate his vehicle's siren or overhead lights, he did not display his weapon or make physical contact with the defendant, he was alone, and he requested, rather than demanded, the defendant's identification. *Id*.

Here, as in O'Neill and Mote, Sum was not seized when Deputy Rickerson approached his parked vehicle on foot, asked Sum what he was doing, and requested identification. This was a valid social contact. The deputy parked his vehicle so that it was not blocking Sum's vehicle. 2RP 18-19. There is no evidence the deputy activated his vehicle's lights or siren. The deputy did not pull Sum over, but rather approached Sum's vehicle on foot after observing Sum slumped over in the driver's seat. 2RP 17-21. Sum, on his own, partially rolled down his window to speak with the deputy. 2RP 23. Compare O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 579 (no seizure occurred where officer asked the defendant to roll down his window). Deputy Rickerson then engaged defendant in conversation and asked him what he was doing in the area and to whom the vehicle belonged, just as the officers in O'Neill and Mote asked the defendants what they were doing. 2RP 23, 25. See O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 572; Mote, 129 Wn. App. at 280. Finally, Deputy Rickerson asked Sum if he had identification, and Sum verbally provided a false name and date of birth. 2RP 23, 25-27.

Sum mischaracterizes Deputy Rickerson's request as a "demand" for information. According to the testimony from the suppression hearing, Deputy Rickerson "asked" Sum if he had identification on him. 2RP 23, 25. The trial court's written findings of fact reflect that the deputy "inquired" if Sum had identification. CP 86 (Finding of Fact No. 11). Sum has not challenged this finding of fact, and therefore it is a verity on appeal. *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 571, 578; *see Sum* at \*2 n.3. Deputy Rickerson requested Sum's identification, and no seizure occurs when an officer requests identification. *See O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 577-78.

Moreover, it is Sum's burden to prove a seizure occurred.

He failed to elicit any evidence during the suppression hearing to

support his argument that, for instance, Deputy Rickerson's manner or tone of voice indicated a demand for information. Without evidence of coercion or display of authority, Sum cannot meet his burden. *See, e.g., Thorn*, 129 Wn.2d at 353-54 (defendant failed to show a seizure occurred, where officer's question "Where is the pipe?" was subject to more than one interpretation, and the defendant "presented no facts about the encounter" to show that a reasonable person would not feel free to leave). Sum's argument that Deputy Rickerson "demanded" information lacks evidentiary support and should be rejected.

Sum was not seized until he drove off at a high rate of speed, over grass and the sidewalk, and Deputy Rickerson activated his lights in pursuit. 2RP 28-29. At that point, the deputy had, at a minimum, reasonable suspicion to support a traffic stop. Before Deputy Rickerson activated his vehicle's lights in pursuit of Sum, the officer neither used physical force nor displayed any show of authority. *See O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 577-81.

The factors cited by this Court in *Harrington* support that Deputy Rickerson's initial contact with Sum did not amount to a seizure. *See Harrington*, 167 Wn.2d at 664 (citing *Young*, 135 Wn.2d at 512). Deputy Rickerson was the only officer who initially contacted Sum. There is no indication that the deputy displayed his weapon, physically touched Sum, or used language or tone indicating mandatory compliance. *See* 2RP 17-25. Rather, the deputy "asked" Sum for his name. Without evidence to the contrary, it cannot be said that Deputy Rickerson's initial contact with Sum amounted to a seizure. *Harrington*, 167 Wn.2d at 664; *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 581.

Deputy Rickerson's actions in their entirety, viewed objectively, did not create such a show of authority as to constitute a seizure. The deputy lawfully approached Sum, engaged him in conversation, and asked for identifying information as part of a social contact. There is nothing in the record that indicates the deputy told Sum to stop or that he was not free to leave or otherwise gave Sum a command or order.

Under *O'Neill* and *Mote*, the deputy's initial encounter with Sum was lawful. Sum was not seized. The Court of Appeals' decision finding the same does not raise a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should deny review.

# 2. The deputy's subjective suspicions of criminal activity are irrelevant to the Court's seizure analysis.

Sum bases his argument on the premise that he was seized because Deputy Rickerson suspected that he was involved in criminal activity. *See* Pet. Rev. at 13, 15. In doing so, Sum ignores this Court's opinion in *O'Neill*. There, the Court expressly rejected the defendant's argument that an officer cannot question the driver of a vehicle if the officer suspects criminal activity but those suspicions do not rise to the level necessary for a *Terry* stop. *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 574-75, 577. The Court reasoned, "That premise is...contrary to the principle that a seizure depends upon whether a reasonable person would

believe, in light of all the circumstances, that he or she was free to go or otherwise end the encounter. Whether a seizure *occurs* does not turn upon the officer's suspicions." *Id.* at 575 (emphasis in original). *See also*, *Young*, 135 Wn.2d at 512-14 (police officer, suspicious of defendant's actions, did not disturb defendant's "private affairs" by shining a spotlight on him as he walked down the street); *Thorn*, 129 Wn.2d at 349, 353-54 (no seizure occurred where police officer, who suspected drug activity, approached defendant's parked car on foot and asked, "Where is the pipe?").

An officer's reasonable suspicions are only relevant once a seizure *occurs* and then inform whether the seizure was constitutionally valid. *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 576-77. Deputy Rickerson did nothing more than share his suspicions when asked by Sum. Whether or not Deputy Rickerson subjectively suspected Sum of criminal activity is irrelevant to the question of whether a seizure occurred when he asked Sum if he had identification. *See id.* at 575. The reasons behind Deputy

Rickerson's request do not factor into the analysis. Rather, the relevant consideration is the deputy's conduct or any show of authority. *Id* at 576.

Citizens "expect the police to investigate when circumstances are suspicious, to interact with citizens to keep informed about what is happening in a neighborhood, and to be available for citizens' questions, comments, and information citizens may offer." *Id.* at 576-77. Deputy Rickerson did what the citizens of this state expect police to do: he checked on the welfare of individuals who appeared to be unconscious, and he engaged one of those individuals – Sum – in conversation and asked for identification when circumstances appeared suspicious. There was no show of authority, and there was no seizure. Review is not warranted.

B. This Court should also deny review, because Sum agrees that adopting a new reasonable "person of color" standard is unnecessary to the determination of his case.

In his petition for review, Sum expressly acknowledges that it is "not necessary" for this Court to adopt a new "reasonable 'person of color' standard" to resolve the issue of whether he was seized in this case. See Pet. Rev. at 15. The State agrees. Sum cites the objective legal standard articulated by this Court in *Harrington*, O'Neill, and Young in his petition, and that constitutional standard appropriately, and conclusively, shows no seizure occurred. Because consideration of a new reasonable "person of color" test is unnecessary in deciding Sum's case, this Court should deny review. See State v. Hall, 95 Wn.2d 536, 539, 627 P.2d 101 (1981) ("A reviewing court should not pass on constitutional issues unless absolutely necessary to the determination of the case.").

Additionally, even if Sum were asking this Court to adopt a new legal standard, doing so would be problematic for at least three reasons. First, Sum's case is an unsuitable vehicle for creating and applying such a standard. Sum bears the burden of proving that a seizure occurred. *O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d at 574. Sum cannot meet his burden to prove a seizure under some new unidentified legal standard that he neither articulates for this Court nor explains how it should apply to the facts of his case.

Second, a reasonable "person of color" standard is inconsistent with the "purely objective" reasonable person test articulated by this Court in *Harrington*, *O'Neill*, and *Young*. *See*, *e.g.*, *Harrington*, 167 Wn.2d at 663. Federal cases are persuasive on this point. In *United States v. Easley*, 911 F.3d 1074, 1081-82 (10th Cir. 2018), the Tenth Circuit rejected the consideration of a person's race in a "reasonable person" seizure analysis, noting that that test is an objective one which considers "not whether the citizen perceived that he was being ordered to restrict his movement, but whether the officer's words and actions would have conveyed that to a reasonable person." (citing *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544).

The *Easley* court noted that consideration of a person's race in the reasonable person analysis is unworkable, because persons of color do not all share the same life experiences, and there is no uniform way to account for such differences when applying an objective test. *Id.* at 1082. The court stated:

Requiring officers to determine how an individual's race affects her reaction to a police request would seriously complicate Fourth Amendment seizure law. As the government notes, there is no easily discernable principle to guide consideration of race in the reasonable person analysis.... There is no uniform life experience for persons of color, and there are surely divergent attitudes toward law enforcement officers among members of the population. Thus, there is no uniform way to apply a reasonable person test that adequately accounts for racial differences consistent with an objective standard for Fourth Amendment seizures ... in short, the categorical consideration of race in the reasonable person analysis is error, and we reject Ms. Easley's argument to the contrary.

Id. at 1082.

Sum cannot inject his race or his subjective perceptions as a person of color in the analysis, because both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 require viewing Deputy Rickerson's conduct in light of a reasonable person, not a reasonable person of color. *See also, Torres v. Madrid*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 141 S. Ct. 989, 998-99, 209 L. Ed. 2d 190 (2021) ("[T]he appropriate inquiry is whether the challenged conduct *objectively* manifests an intent to restrain...Only an objective test 'allows the police to determine in advance whether the conduct contemplated will implicate the Fourth Amendment."") (emphasis in original)(internal citations omitted); *United States v. Knights*, 989 F.3d 1281, 1288 (11th Cir. 2021)<sup>4</sup> ("We may not consider race to determine whether a seizure has occurred," because "the existence of a seizure is an objective question," and "most personal characteristics, including race, do not lend themselves to objective conclusions.").

Applying different reasonable person standards to different groups of people on the basis of race is not only unworkable, but also "raises serious equal protection concerns if it could result in different treatment for those who are otherwise

<sup>4</sup> *Petition for Certiorari Docketed*, United States Supreme Court No. 21-198.

similarly situated." *Easley*, 911 F.3d at 1082; *see also Knights*, 989 F.3d at 1289 ("[E]ven if we could devise an objective way to consider race, we could not apply a race-conscious reasonable-person test without running afoul of the Equal Protection Clause.").

Third, the record here is insufficient for consideration and application of a new legal standard based on race. The *Easley* court noted that particular personal traits of a defendant are irrelevant to the Fourth Amendment's reasonable person test "other than to the extent that they may have been known to the officer and influenced *his conduct*." 911 F.3d at 1081 n.3 (emphasis in original) (citing *United States v. Little*, 18 F.3d 1499, 1505 (10th Cir. 1994)). Thus, Sum's race would only have been potentially relevant to the court's seizure analysis if his race was known to Deputy Rickerson at the time of his contact and influenced the deputy's actions.

The record from the suppression hearing is completely silent as to Sum's race.<sup>5</sup> There is no evidence as to what the deputy knew, or believed, Sum's race to be. As the appellant, Sum bears the burden of perfecting the record for appellate review. State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 619, 290 P.3d (2012); see RAP 9.2(b). Sum did not develop the necessary record below. He never argued to the trial court or to the Court of Appeals that under a reasonable "person of color" standard, he was seized. Rather, he relied on existing Washington caselaw and this Court's objective legal standard. See CP 7-12; 2RP 44-45; Brief of Appellant (COA 53924-1-II) at 9-20. In the absence of a sufficient record, this Court would be left speculating as to how, if at all, Sum's race affected the deputy's conduct. For the above reasons, this Court should deny review.

<sup>5</sup> The judgment and sentence lists Sum's race as "Asian/Pacific Islander." CP 65.

## V. CONCLUSION

Sum fails to show review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully requests this Court deny review.

This document contains 4993 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.